

This month's Alert addresses two recent grants of certiorari by the Supreme Court: in *Fifth Third Bancorp v. Dudenhoeffer* (No. 12-751), the Court will consider the presumption of prudence for employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) fiduciaries under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA); and in *Loughrin v. United States* (No. 13-316), the Court will address the elements of a claim under 18 U.S.C. § 1344(2), the federal bank fraud statute.

We also discuss two decisions from the Southern District of New York: one dismissing a securities fraud action against UBS AG in connection with losses incurred by rogue trader Kweku Adoboli; and another holding that Section 10(b) governs American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) traded on the New York Stock Exchange pursuant to the Supreme Court's decision in *Morrison v. Nat'l. Austl. Bank Ltd.*, 130 S.Ct. 2869 (2010).

## Supreme Court Will Consider the *Moench* Presumption of Prudence for Employee Stock Ownership Plan Fiduciaries

On December 13, 2013, the Supreme Court granted certiorari to consider the presumption of prudence for employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) fiduciaries. *Fifth Third Bancorp v. Dudenhoeffer* (No. 12-751) (*Fifth Third Bancorp III*).



### The Presumption of Prudence

In the seminal case of *Moench v. Robertson*, 62 F.3d 553 (3d Cir. 1995) (Greenberg, J.), the Third Circuit considered the “difficult question” of when ESOP fiduciaries may “be held liable under [ERISA] for investing solely in employer common stock, when both Congress and the terms of the ESOP provide that the primary purpose of the plan is to invest in the employer’s securities.” The *Moench* court held that “an ESOP fiduciary who invests the assets in employer stock is entitled to a presumption that it acted consistently with ERISA by virtue of that decision.” The court further ruled that a “plaintiff may overcome that presumption by establishing that the fiduciary abused its discretion by investing in employer securities.”

The Securities Law Alert is edited by Paul C. Gluckow (pgluckow@stblaw.com/212-455-2653), Peter E. Kazanoff (pkazanoff@stblaw.com/212-455-3525) and Jonathan K. Youngwood (jyoungwood@stblaw.com/212-455-3539).

The Second, Fifth, Sixth, Ninth and Eleventh Circuits have all adopted the *Moench* presumption of prudence. *In re Citigroup ERISA Litig.*, 662 F.3d 128 (2d Cir. 2011); *Kuper v. Iovenko*, 66 F.3d 1447 (6th Cir. 1995) (Milburn, J.); *Kirschbaum v. Reliant Energy Inc.*, 526 F.3d 243 (5th Cir. 2008); *Quan v. Computer Scis. Corp.*, 623 F.3d 870 (9th Cir. 2010); *Lanfear v. Home Depot, Inc.*, 679 F.3d 1267 (11th Cir. 2012).

Three circuits—the Second, Third and Eleventh Circuits—have applied the presumption of prudence at the pleading stage. *Citigroup*, 662 F.3d 128; *Edgar v. Avaya Inc.*, 503 F.3d 340 (3d Cir. 2007); *Lanfear*, 679 F.3d 1267. However, the Sixth Circuit has held that the presumption of prudence “does not apply at the motion to dismiss stage.” *Pfeil v. State St. Bank and Trust Co.*, 671 F.3d 585 (6th Cir. 2012) (Anderson, J.).

## Background

The case before the Supreme Court stems from an ERISA stock drop class action brought by participants in the Fifth Third Bancorp Master Profit Sharing Plan (the “Plan”) who invested in Fifth Third common stock through the Fifth Third Stock Fund, one of twenty separate investment funds offered under the Plan. According to the complaint, “the price of Fifth Third stock declined 74% from the beginning of the class period, July 19, 2007, through September 18, 2009.” *Dudenhoeffer v. Fifth Third Bancorp*, 757 F. Supp. 2d 753 (S.D. Oh. 2010) (Beckwith, J.) (*Fifth Third Bancorp I*).

Plaintiffs alleged that “during the class period, Fifth Third switched from being a conservative lender to a subprime lender,” and consequently “Fifth Third’s loan portfolio became increasingly at risk due to defaults.” Plaintiffs claimed that “this change in lending philosophy and/or mismanagement of the company made investing in Fifth Third common stock too risky for a retirement plan.” Plaintiffs asserted that the fiduciaries of the Fifth Third Stock Fund “knew or should have known that Fifth



Third stock was too risky,” and contended that the fiduciaries “should have stopped further investment of Plan assets in Fifth Third stock, and ... divested the Plan of Fifth Third stock.”

Among other claims, plaintiffs alleged that defendants had breached their fiduciary duties under ERISA by continuing to offer “Fifth Third stock as an investment option,” and “maintaining [the Plan’s] preexisting investment in Fifth Third stock ... after it became an imprudent investment for the Plan” (the prudence claims). Defendants moved to dismiss the complaint in its entirety based, *inter alia*, on plaintiffs’ failure to plead facts sufficient to overcome the presumption of prudence.

## Southern District of Ohio Finds Plaintiffs Failed to Plead Sufficient Facts to Overcome the Presumption of Prudence

At the outset of its analysis, the Southern District of Ohio explained that the Sixth Circuit’s decision in *Kuper*, 66 F.3d 1447, “control[ed] the disposition of [d]efendants’ motion to dismiss.” *Fifth Third Bancorp I*, 757 F. Supp. 2d 753. There, the Sixth Circuit held that courts may “presume that [an ESOP] fiduciary’s decision to remain invested in employer securities was reasonable.” 66 F.3d 1447. The *Kuper* court further

ruled that plaintiffs may “rebut this presumption of reasonableness by showing that a prudent fiduciary acting under similar circumstances would have made a different investment decision.”

Plaintiffs contended that it was “inappropriate to apply the *Kuper* presumption at the motion to dismiss stage.” *Fifth Third Bancorp I*, 757 F. Supp. 2d 753. Acknowledging a “split of authority among district courts” on this issue, the Southern District of Ohio held that “the *Kuper* presumption may be applied at the pleading stage.” The court explained that “[i]f an ESOP plan fiduciary starts with a presumption that the decision to remain invested in plan securities was reasonable, then a claim for breach of fiduciary duty only becomes plausible if there are sufficient facts alleged” to overcome that presumption.

The court found that plaintiffs had not met this standard. While *Fifth Third Bancorp* may have “embarked on an improvident and even perhaps disastrous foray into subprime lending, which in turn caused a substantial decline in the price of its common stock,” the court determined that “the complaint fails to establish that Fifth Third was in the type of dire financial predicament sufficient to establish a breach of fiduciary duty under *Kuper* and *Moench*.” The court found it particularly significant that “Fifth Third remained a viable company throughout the class period.”

The court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss; plaintiffs appealed.

### Sixth Circuit in *Pfeil* Holds the Presumption of Prudence Does Not Apply at the Pleading Stage

While the appeal was pending, the Sixth Circuit held in a separate case that the “presumption of reasonableness adopted in *Kuper* ... does not apply at the motion to dismiss stage.” *Pfeil*, 671 F.3d 585. The *Pfeil* court explained that its decision stemmed

“from the plain language of *Kuper*,” in which the Sixth Circuit had stated that “an ESOP plaintiff could ‘rebut [the] presumption of reasonableness by showing that a prudent fiduciary acting under similar circumstances would have made a different investment decision.’” *Pfeil*, 671 F.3d 585 (quoting *Kuper*, 66 F.3d 1447). The *Pfeil* court emphasized that “[t]he presumption of reasonableness in *Kuper* was cast as an evidentiary presumption, and not a pleading requirement.” Moreover, the *Pfeil* court pointed out that the Sixth Circuit in *Kuper* had “applied the presumption to a fully developed evidentiary record, and not merely the pleadings.” The Sixth Circuit in *Pfeil* therefore concluded that “a plaintiff need not plead enough facts to overcome the presumption [of prudence] in order to survive a motion to dismiss.”

### Sixth Circuit Relies on *Pfeil* to Reverse the Southern District of Ohio’s Decision in *Fifth Third Bancorp I*

On June 7, 2012, the Sixth Circuit relied on *Pfeil* to reverse the Southern District of Ohio’s decision in *Fifth Third Bancorp I*. *Dudenhoefer v. Fifth Third Bancorp*, 692 F.3d 410 (6th Cir. 2012) (Stranch, J.) (*Fifth Third Bancorp II*). “Following the teaching of *Pfeil*,” the Sixth Circuit declined to “apply the *Kuper* presumption of reasonableness to test the sufficiency” of plaintiffs’ prudence claims in the *Fifth Third Bancorp* action. The Sixth Circuit stated that under *Pfeil*, “[p]laintiffs need only allege a fiduciary breach and a causal connection to losses suffered by the Plan” in order to state an ERISA claim against ESOP fiduciaries.

Here, plaintiffs “allege[d] that Fifth Third [had] engaged in lending practices that were equivalent to participation in the subprime lending market, that [d]efendants were aware of the risks of such investments by the start of the class period, and that such risks made Fifth Third stock an imprudent investment.” Moreover, plaintiffs contended that “[a]

prudent fiduciary acting under similar circumstances would have acted to protect participants against unnecessary losses, and would have made different investment decisions.” The Sixth Circuit determined that the complaint “plausibly alleges a claim of breach of fiduciary duty and the requisite causal connection” with respect to defendants’ “failure to divest the Plan of Fifth Third Stock and remove that stock as an investment option.”

## Citing a Circuit Split, Defendants Petition the Supreme Court for Certiorari

Defendants petitioned the Supreme Court for certiorari. On December 13, 2013, the Supreme Court granted certiorari to determine “[w]hether the Sixth Circuit [had] erred by holding that [plaintiffs] were not required to plausibly allege in their complaint that the [ESOP] fiduciaries ... [had] abused their discretion by remaining invested in employer stock, in order to overcome the presumption that their decision to invest in employer stock was reasonable.” *Fifth Third Bancorp v. Dudenhoeffer* (No. 12-751).

In their petition for certiorari, defendants-petitioners (“Petitioners”) argued that the Sixth Circuit’s decision was “in direct conflict” with rulings

from the Second, Third and Eleventh Circuits holding that ESOP fiduciaries are “entitled to a presumption of reasonableness at the pleading stage.” Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, *Fifth Third Bancorp v. Dudenhoeffer* (No. 12-751), 2012 WL 6636191 (Dec. 14, 2012). Petitioners contended that the Sixth Circuit had “erroneously recast the *Kuper* presumption as an evidentiary presumption, rather than a standard of review.” Petitioners pointed out that the Eleventh Circuit in *Lanfeer*, 679 F.3d 1267, had expressly “criticized the Sixth’s Circuit’s holding” in *Pfeil* for this approach.

## Respondents Dispute the Circuit Split, Arguing That the Other Circuit Court Decisions Are Distinguishable

In their brief in opposition, plaintiffs-respondents (“Respondents”) argued that the Sixth Circuit’s decision in *Fifth Third Bancorp II* does “not conflict with any decision of any other court of appeals.” Brief in Opposition, *Fifth Third Bancorp v. Dudenhoeffer* (No. 12-751), 2013 WL 660668 (Feb. 22, 2013). Respondents emphasized that the different circuit court decisions “in large measure turn[ed] on the varying duties of the fiduciaries, which in turn depend[ed] on the terms of the particular ERISA plan in each case.”

According to Respondents, the ESOP plans at issue in the other circuit decisions cited by Petitioners “directed the fiduciaries to invest in employer stock.” Respondents claimed that “in this case, the Plan gave [P]etitioners full authority to cease investing in or divest the employer’s stock, and the complaint alleges that they acted imprudently in failing to exercise that authority.” Respondents contended that this distinction “makes the legal analysis” in the *Fifth Third Bancorp* action “different from that in each of the allegedly conflicting cases,” and posited that “there [was] no reason to believe that ... any other court of appeals would have reached a different conclusion in this case.”



In their reply brief, Petitioners stated that the “Plan language at issue in this case is essentially identical to the plan language analyzed in *Citigroup, Edgar and Lanfear*.” Petitioners’ Reply Brief, *Fifth Third Bancorp. v. Dudenhoefter* (No. 12-751), 2013 WL 860364 (Mar. 5, 2013). “Therefore, all four circuit court cases confronted essentially identical factual circumstances, making the split in authority all the more glaring.”

\* \* \*

The Supreme Court will hear oral argument in the *Fifth Third Bancorp* case on April 2, 2014.

## Supreme Court Will Address the Elements of a Federal Bank Fraud Claim under 18 U.S.C. § 1344(2)

On December 13, 2013, the Supreme Court granted certiorari to consider “[w]hether the Government must prove that the defendant intended to defraud a bank and expose it to risk of loss in every prosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 1344,” the federal bank fraud statute. *Loughrin v. United States* (No. 13-316).



## The Federal Bank Fraud Statute

The federal bank fraud statute provides as follows:

Whoever knowingly executes, or attempts to execute, a scheme or artifice—

(1) to defraud a financial institution; or

(2) to obtain any of the moneys, funds, credits, assets, securities, or other property owned by, or under the custody or control of, a financial institution, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises;

shall be fined not more than \$1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

18 U.S.C. § 1344 (2012).

## Background

The case currently pending before the Supreme Court stems from “a scheme to steal checks from people’s mail.” *United States v. Loughrin*, 710 F.3d 1111 (10th Cir. 2013) (Tymkovich, J.). “After stealing the checks,” defendant would then “alter them to make purchases at a local Target store” and subsequently “return those purchases to Target for cash.” The Government prosecuted the defendant under 18 U.S.C. § 1344(2), among other counts.

At trial, defendant “proposed that the jury instruction for bank fraud, 18 U.S.C. § 1344(2), specifically require the jury to find that he had an intent to defraud a financial institution in order to convict.” The District of Utah found that neither the federal bank fraud statute nor Tenth Circuit precedent required the Government to establish an intent to defraud a bank or financial institution under § 1344(2), and rejected defendant’s proposed

jury instructions. The jury convicted defendant of bank fraud under § 1344(2), among other counts. Defendant appealed.

## Tenth Circuit Holds the Government Need Not Prove Intent to Defraud a Bank under § 1344(2)

At the outset of its analysis, the Tenth Circuit explained that § 1344 sets forth two separate offenses: subsection (1) prohibits “a scheme to defraud” while subsection (2) prohibits “a scheme to obtain money by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises.” The Tenth Circuit stated that a “scheme to defraud” under § 1344(1) “must necessarily be directed at a financial institution or bank.” However, the Tenth Circuit noted that § 1344(2) “does not explicitly state who must be the object of the scheme.” The court found “no requirement in either [Tenth Circuit precedent] or the text of § 1344(2) that the fraud must be intentionally directed at a bank.”

The Tenth Circuit determined that “[t]he differences in the prohibited conduct for each offense extend to the type of proof the government needs to offer.” In order “[t]o establish that a bank was defrauded under § 1344(1),” the Government must prove that “the bank was put at potential risk by the scheme to defraud.” But the Tenth Circuit held that “a conviction under § 1344(2) requires no proof that a bank was ‘at risk’ [of loss] because there is no explicit requirement [in the statute] that a particular bank be defrauded.” The court found that “under [Tenth Circuit] precedent, an individual can violate § 1344(2) by obtaining money from a bank while intending to defraud someone else.”

The Tenth Circuit concluded that the district court had not “err[ed] in refusing to instruct the jury that an intent to defraud the bank was required” in order for the Government to prevail in its § 1344(2) case against defendant. Moreover, the Tenth Circuit found

that the Government had “satisfied the fraudulent intent requirement of § 1344(2) with proof that [defendant had] intended to defraud Target rather than a bank.”



Notably, the Tenth Circuit “recognize[d] that [its] interpretation of § 1344(2) may cast a wide net for bank fraud liability.” But the court emphasized that its decision was “dictated by the plain language of the statute” and the Tenth Circuit’s “prior precedent.”

## Petitioner Cites a Circuit Split on the Government’s Burden of Proof under § 1344(2)

Defendant petitioned the Supreme Court for certiorari to review the Tenth Circuit’s decision. On December 13, 2013, the Supreme Court granted certiorari.

In his petition for certiorari, defendant (“Petitioner”) argued that “the courts of appeals are in open, acknowledged conflict” on the question of “whether intent to defraud a bank and expose it to risk of loss is a required element in every prosecution under the federal bank fraud statute,” including prosecutions under § 1344(2). Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, *Loughrin v. United States of America*, 2013 WL 4855971 (Sept. 9, 2013).

Petitioner contended that six circuits (the First,

Second, Third, Fifth, Seventh and Eighth) “hold that the Government must prove that the defendant intended to defraud a covered financial institution” in order to establish a claim under § 1344(2). According to Petitioner, “it is not enough” in these circuits “that the defendant intended to defraud a non-bank victim even if a bank was involved in the scheme in some way.” Petitioner further asserted that in these six circuits, the “Government must show that the defendant’s scheme exposed the bank to a risk of loss” in order “to prove intent to defraud a bank.”

According to Petitioner, three circuits (the Sixth, Ninth, and Tenth) “disagree” with the majority approach. These three circuit courts “have held that § 1344(2) establishes an independent crime that dispenses with any requirement to prove intent to defraud a bank or expose it to a risk of loss.” Under the law in these circuits, “§ 1344(2) requires only intent to defraud *someone* and some nexus between the fraudulent scheme and a financial institution.”

Petitioner claimed that these “differing legal standards regularly lead to opposite results in factually similar cases.” In Petitioner’s view, this inconsistency is especially problematic because “§ 1344 is a predicate offense for a number of other federal crimes, such as aggravated identity theft and racketeering.” Petitioner argued that “[s]uch an important and consequential criminal statute should have the same meaning throughout the country.”

## Petitioner Contends the Tenth Circuit’s Interpretation of § 1344(2) Is Overbroad

Citing the legislative history, Petitioner argued § 1344 “was intended to federalize fraudulent schemes only to the extent they intentionally targeted a bank and put its assets at risk.” Petitioner contended that “[t]he Tenth Circuit’s contrary construction gives the statute a breadth far in excess of what is necessary to accomplish Congress’s

purpose of protecting the financial integrity of federally related financial institutions.” Moreover, Petitioner asserted that the Tenth Circuit’s reading of § 1344(2) “federalizes broad swaths of traditional state crimes, like the simple fraud and theft alleged here, simply because they have some nexus to a federally related bank.”

Petitioner also argued that the Tenth Circuit’s interpretation of § 1344, as establishing two separate offenses, is inconsistent with the Supreme Court’s interpretation of the mail and wire fraud statutes, on which Congress based the two-clause structure of § 1344. Petitioner stated that the Supreme Court “has repeatedly held” that the two clauses of the mail and wire fraud statutes “establish a single offense, the essence of which is captured in the original, first clause prohibiting schemes to ‘defraud.’”

## Government Acknowledges Circuit Split, but Argues This Case Is Not a Proper Vehicle for Resolving the Risk of Loss Question

In its brief in opposition, the Government acknowledged the existence of a circuit split with respect to the proof required to establish a violation of § 1344(2). Brief for the United States in Opposition,



*Loughrin v. United States*, 2013 WL 6091775 (Nov. 18, 2013). However, the Government argued that “[t]he division among the courts of appeals principally concerns” the question of “whether the [G]overnment must prove that the defendant caused or intended to cause a risk of loss to a financial institution.” The Government stated that Petitioner “did not press that question” before the Tenth Circuit, and therefore the Tenth Circuit “did not address it.”

In the Government’s view, the only question the Tenth Circuit did address in the case at hand was “whether the [G]overnment must prove that the defendant intended to defraud a financial institution directly rather than obtaining funds in a financial institution by defrauding a third party.” The Government recognized that “a majority of the circuits has held that bank fraud under either prong of § 1344 requires an intent to deceive the bank directly.” But the Government explained that “even those courts that construe the statute to require proof that the defendant intended to victimize a financial institution regularly find that element satisfied when a third party (e.g., the defendant’s employer) is the primary victim and fraudulent documents are presented to a bank.” Therefore, the Government pointed out that “[t]he distinction between the majority position and the view adopted by the [Tenth Circuit] ... will rarely be of practical importance.”

The Government further contended that if the Tenth Circuit had imposed a risk of loss requirement, the requirement would have been met in this case. The Government stated that “fraudulent schemes designed to obtain funds in the custody of a bank by the negotiation of an altered or forged check inherently pose a risk to the bank sufficient to satisfy the risk-of-loss” requirement.

\* \* \*

The Supreme Court will hear oral argument in the *Loughrin* case on April 1, 2014.

## Southern District of New York Dismisses Securities Fraud Action against UBS in Connection with Rogue Trader’s Losses

On December 13, 2013, the Southern District of New York dismissed a securities fraud action against UBS AG in connection with unauthorized trades by rogue trader Kweku Adoboli that ultimately cost the bank \$2.3 billion in losses. *C.D.T.S. No. 1 v. UBS AG*, 2013 WL 6576031 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 13, 2013) (Forrest, J.). The court found the fact “that a ‘rogue’ trader was able to cause such a significant loss to UBS ... more akin to a claim of mismanagement than of fraud.”

### Background

On September 15, 2011, UBS acknowledged that a “‘rogue’ trader in the Investment Bank division had engaged in unhedged proprietary trades with non-existent counterparties,” resulting in losses in excess of \$2.3 billion. Plaintiffs subsequently brought suit alleging that the incident had “forced” UBS to acknowledge that its “risk and disclosure controls were inadequate.”

According to plaintiffs, UBS had made “a series of alleged material misstatements and omissions ‘regarding UBS’s purportedly robust risk management systems and internal controls.’” Plaintiffs claimed that these statements were untrue given the bank’s alleged “failure to integrate risk assessment into UBS’s compensation framework;” its “incentivized high risk trading” policies; and its practice of “permit[ting] individual traders to maintain ‘umbrella’ or ‘suspense’ accounts,” among other factors. In support of these allegations, plaintiffs pointed to “ex post facto reports, filings, and statements criticizing UBS’s risk controls.”



## Court Finds Plaintiffs' Internal Control-Related Allegations Insufficient to State a Securities Fraud Claim

The Southern District of New York found that plaintiffs had alleged only “a litany of general statements regarding risk controls at UBS.” Plaintiffs did not point to any specific “reports, filings, or subsequent statements” that were “directly tied to any particular alleged misstatements.” For example, none of the subsequent statements conveyed, “in substance,” that UBS knew “the prior statement[s] ... were wrong at the time.” Rather, plaintiffs effectively alleged that UBS’s “statements regarding risk controls must have been false because they occurred while a rogue trader racked up a massive loss.”

The court noted that it had “confronted ... a situation similar to that here” in the case of *In re Royal Bank of Scotland Group PLC Sec. Litig.*, 2012 WL 3826261 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 4, 2012) (Batts, J.). The *Royal Bank of Scotland* court found “alleged misstatements concerning internal control and risk management procedures ... not actionable” because plaintiffs “fail[ed] to cite any contemporaneous support to show that the credit management procedures were not followed.” 2012 WL 3826261. Like the *Royal Bank of Scotland* court, the *UBS* court determined that plaintiffs had failed to “provide sufficient information that would allow [the] [c]ourt to draw ... even circumstantially” “an inference of falsity at the time the alleged statements were made.” *UBS*, 2013 WL 6576031.

Moreover, the *UBS* court found that the internal control-related statements at issue were “akin to ... inactionable puffery.” The court emphasized that “[a]t the time the statements regarding risk controls were made here, the banking sector had experienced enormous losses.” When viewed against this backdrop, the court explained that “touting good risk controls is the equivalent of positive, aspirational puffery.”



Finally, the court determined that plaintiffs had “failed adequately to allege loss causation.” The court explained that the “significant number of steps” it would take “to tie the alleged misstatements and omissions [regarding UBS’s internal controls] to the diminution in UBS’s stock price” was “too speculative ... to sustain a claim of securities fraud.”

The court therefore dismissed plaintiffs’ complaint in its entirety. In so holding, the court observed that “[o]ver the past several years, it has been ever so easy to make banks the target of lawsuits alleging securities fraud.” The court emphasized that “the securities laws have limits” and “do not, for instance, require that banks be prescient or omniscient.”

## Southern District of New York Finds Section 10(b) Applies to Transactions in American Depositary Receipts Traded on Domestic Exchanges

On December 17, 2013, the Southern District of New York applied the Supreme Court’s decision in *Morrison v. Nat’l. Austl. Bank Ltd.*, 130 S.Ct. 2869 (2010), to hold that Section 10(b) reaches transactions involving American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) traded on the New York Stock Exchange. *U.S. v. Martoma*, 2013 WL 6632676 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 17, 2013) (Gardephe, J.).

## Background

The Government brought suit against Matthew Martoma, a hedge fund employee, alleging “securities fraud ... based on [Martoma’s] alleged insider trading in Elan ADRs,” among other claims. Martoma moved to dismiss the insider trading count on the grounds that the ADR transactions at issue “constitute[d] extraterritorial transactions under *Morrison*.” Martoma contended that the “Elan ADRs were derivatives that simply repackaged Elan stock, which is traded abroad.”

## Court Holds ADRs Traded on a Domestic Stock Exchange Meet Both Prongs of the *Morrison* Test

The Southern District of New York explained that “*Morrison* requires courts to apply a two-prong[ed] test in determining the applicability of Section 10(b).” Under the first prong, courts must consider whether the transaction involves “securities listed on domestic exchanges.” *Morrison*, 130 S.Ct. 2869. If “the first prong is not satisfied, courts must then consider whether there has been a domestic purchase or sale of a security” under *Morrison*’s second prong. *Martoma*, 2013 WL 6632676; see also *Morrison*, 130 S. Ct. 2869 (stating that Section 10(b) reaches “domestic transactions in other securities”).

In the case before it, the Southern District of New York found that “the first prong of *Morrison* [was] satisfied” “[b]ecause the Elan ADRs are securities that are listed and traded on” the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). *Martoma*, 2013 WL 6632676.

The court acknowledged that in the case of *In re Société Générale Sec. Litig.*, 2010 WL 3910286 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 29, 2010),<sup>1</sup> the Southern District of New York had stated that “[t]rade in ADRs is considered to be a ‘predominantly foreign securities transaction.’” However, the court distinguished *Société Générale* on the grounds that the ADRs at issue there “were not

traded on an official American securities exchange” but were “instead ... traded in a less formal market with lower exposure to U.S.-resident buyers.” Here, on the other hand, “the Elan ADRs were in fact traded on ‘an official American securities exchange.’” The Southern District of New York found it significant that Martoma could not cite to any case “in which a court has concluded that Section 10(b) does not apply to transactions in ADRs that are listed and traded on a domestic exchange.”

With respect to the second prong of the *Morrison* test, Martoma contended that the Elan ADRs were “merely ‘receipts that may be redeemed for ... foreign [Elan] stock at any time,’” and thus transactions in Elan ADRs were “mere proxies for transactions occurring outside the United States.” The court found this argument “not persuasive” because it did “not address where the transactions in the ADRs took place” under *Morrison*’s second prong.

In *Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto*, 677 F.3d 60 (2d Cir. 2012), the Second Circuit held that a transaction is “domestic” under the second prong of *Morrison*’s test if “irrevocable liability was incurred or ... title was transferred within the United States.”<sup>2</sup> *Absolute Activist*, 677 F.3d 60. Courts must consider, *inter alia*, “facts concerning the formation of the contracts, the placement of purchase orders, the passing of title, or the exchange of money.”

Applying *Absolute Activist*, the Southern District of New York explained that the “ADRs at issue [here] were traded on the NYSE, which means that the formation of contracts for those trades, the passing of title to those securities, and the incurring of liability on the part of sellers and purchasers of those ADRs occurred in the United States.” *Martoma*, 2013 WL 6623676. The court held that “[u]nder these circumstances, the second prong of *Morrison* is satisfied.”

Based on its finding that Section 10(b) applied to the Elan ADRs transactions, the court denied Martoma’s motion to dismiss the insider trading count.

1. Please [click here](#) to read our discussion of the *Société Générale* decision in the October 2010 edition of the Alert.

2. Please [click here](#) to read our discussion of the *Absolute Activist* decision in the March 2012 edition of the Alert.

## NEW YORK

**Bruce D. Angiolillo**  
212-455-3735  
bangiolillo@stblaw.com

**Mark G. Cunha**  
212-455-3475  
mcunha@stblaw.com

**Paul C. Curnin**  
212-455-2519  
pcurnin@stblaw.com

**Michael J. Garvey**  
212-455-7358  
mgarvey@stblaw.com

**Paul C. Gluckow**  
212-455-2653  
pgluckow@stblaw.com

**Nicholas Goldin**  
212-455-3685  
ngoldin@stblaw.com

**David W. Ichel**  
212-455-2563  
dichel@stblaw.com

**Peter E. Kazanoff**  
212-455-3525  
pkazanoff@stblaw.com

**Joshua A. Levine**  
212-455-7694  
jlevine@stblaw.com

**Linda H. Martin**  
212-455-7722  
lmartin@stblaw.com

**Joseph M. McLaughlin**  
212-455-3242  
jmclaughlin@stblaw.com

**Lynn K. Neuner**  
212-455-2696  
lneuner@stblaw.com

**Barry R. Ostrager**  
212-455-2655  
bostrager@stblaw.com

**Thomas C. Rice**  
212-455-3040  
trice@stblaw.com

**Mark J. Stein**  
212-455-2310  
mstein@stblaw.com

**Alan C. Turner**  
212-455-2472  
aturner@stblaw.com

**Mary Kay Vyskocil**  
212-455-3093  
mvyskocil@stblaw.com

**Craig S. Waldman**  
212-455-2881  
cwaldman@stblaw.com

**George S. Wang**  
212-455-2228  
gwang@stblaw.com

**David J. Woll**  
212-455-3136  
dwoll@stblaw.com

**Jonathan K. Youngwood**  
212-455-3539  
jyoungwood@stblaw.com

## LOS ANGELES

**Michael D. Kibler**  
310-407-7515  
mkibler@stblaw.com

**Chet A. Kronenberg**  
310-407-7557  
ckronenberg@stblaw.com

## PALO ALTO

**Alexis S. Coll-Very**  
650-251-5201  
acoll-very@stblaw.com

**James G. Kreissman**  
650-251-5080  
jkreissman@stblaw.com

## WASHINGTON, D.C.

**Peter H. Bresnan**  
202-636-5569  
pbresnan@stblaw.com

**Cheryl J. Scarboro**  
202-636-5529  
cscarboro@stblaw.com

**Peter C. Thomas**  
202-636-5535  
pthomas@stblaw.com

Simpson Thacher “is arguably the leader” in defending securities  
litigation “in the private equity sector.”

—LEGAL 500 2013

The contents of this publication are for informational purposes only. Neither this publication nor the lawyers who authored it are rendering legal or other professional advice or opinions on specific facts or matters, nor does the distribution of this publication to any person constitute the establishment of an attorney-client relationship. Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP assumes no liability in connection with the use of this publication.

## UNITED STATES

### New York

425 Lexington Avenue  
New York, NY 10017  
+1-212-455-2000

### Houston

2 Houston Center  
909 Fannin Street  
Houston, TX 77010  
+1-713-821-5650

### Los Angeles

1999 Avenue of the Stars  
Los Angeles, CA 90067  
+1-310-407-7500

### Palo Alto

2475 Hanover Street  
Palo Alto, CA 94304  
+1-650-251-5000

### Washington, D.C.

1155 F Street, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
+1-202-636-5500

## EUROPE

### London

CityPoint  
One Ropemaker Street  
London EC2Y 9HU  
England  
+44-(0)20-7275-6500

## ASIA

### Beijing

3919 China World Tower  
1 Jian Guo Men Wai Avenue  
Beijing 100004  
China  
+86-10-5965-2999

### Hong Kong

ICBC Tower  
3 Garden Road, Central  
Hong Kong  
+852-2514-7600

### Seoul

West Tower, Mirae Asset Center 1  
26 Eulji-ro 5-gil, Jung-gu  
Seoul 100-210  
Korea  
+82-2-6030-3800

### Tokyo

Ark Hills Sengokuyama Mori Tower  
9-10, Roppongi 1-Chome  
Minato-Ku, Tokyo 106-0032  
Japan  
+81-3-5562-6200

## SOUTH AMERICA

### São Paulo

Av. Presidente Juscelino Kubitschek, 1455  
São Paulo, SP 04543-011  
Brazil  
+55-11-3546-1000